

Management Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Fiscal 2012 – First Quarter for the three month period ended July 31, 2011

Table of Contents

Overview	1
Forward-looking Statements	1
The Company	3
Our Business	4
Financial Review of Operations	4
Financial Results Summary by Quarter	7
Liquidity and Capital Resources	8
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements	10
Foreign Exchange Exposure	10
Related Party Transactions	11
Outstanding Share Information	13
Financial and Operational Progress & Outlook	10
Industry and Economic Factors Affecting Performance	16
Changes in Accounting Policies including Initial Adoption	18



Overview

The following management discussion and analysis (MD&A) is a review of the financial condition and results of operations of Critical Outcome Technologies Inc. ("COTI" or the "Company") for the quarter ended July 31, 2011, and has been prepared with all information available up to and including October 25, 2011. This MD&A is intended to assist in understanding the dynamics of the Company's business and the key factors underlying its financial results.

The unaudited condensed interim financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standard (IAS) 34, Interim Financial Reporting and with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") 1, First-time Adoption of IFRS. By their nature, the unaudited condensed interim financial statements do not conform in all respects with disclosures for annual financial statements and should be read in conjunction with the Company's audited financial statements for the year ended April 30, 2011, prepared in accordance with Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles ("CGAAP"). The Company adopted IFRS effective May 1, 2011. While the Company's annual financial statements for the year ended April 30, 2011 have been audited in accordance with CGAAP, they were not audited in accordance with IFRS. Further discussion related to the impact of the transition to IFRS is noted as appropriate throughout this MD&A.

All dollar amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars. Historic quarterly interim reports, the Company's Annual Information Form (AIF) and annual audited financial statements as well as additional supplementary information concerning the Company can be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.

Forward-looking Statements

This MD&A contains certain statements based upon forward-looking information ("forward-looking statements" or "FLS") concerning the Company's plans for its operations and other matters within the meaning of applicable Canadian provincial securities laws. FLS are necessarily based on estimates and assumptions that are inherently subject to significant business, economic and competitive uncertainties and contingencies. All statements that address activities, events or developments that the Company believes, expects or anticipates will or may occur in the future are FLS. FLS are subject to a variety of risks and uncertainties that may cause the actual events or results of the Company to differ materially from those discussed in the FLS, and even if such actual events or results are realized or substantially realized, there can be no assurance that they will have the expected consequences to, or effects on, the Company.

Any statements that express or involve discussion with respect to predictions, expectations, beliefs, plans, projections, objectives, or assumptions of future events or performance (often, but not always, using words or phrases such as "expects" or "does not expect", "is expected", "anticipates" or "does not anticipate", "plans", "estimates" or "intends", or stating that certain actions, events or results "may", "could", "would", "might" or "will" be taken, occur or be achieved) are not statements of historical fact and may be FLS. The major FLS included in this MD&A are set out in Table 1.



Table 1: Forward-looking Statements

MD&A Section	Nature of Forward-looking Information Disclosed
Heading	
The Business	 Intends to sell or license its targeted molecules Plans for further testing activities on COTI-2 leading to an IND filing and readiness for a Phase 1 clinical trial Plans for future application of the CHEMSAS® technology on a collaboration basis The Company's commercialization strategy for collaborations
Liquidity and Capital Resources	 Expectations of future expenditures on patents and computer software Intentions as to the future use of private placement proceeds Plans for future research and development projects and additional financing raises
Financial and Operational Progress and Outlook	 Scientific experiments planned to optimize the licensing value of COTI-2 Forecasted expenditures on COTI-2 and the Acute Myelogenous Leukemia (AML) program Scientific plans for the AML program and the eligibility to apply for future government funding Plans to develop and market the HIV-1 integrase program for codevelopment Plans to apply for government funding of the HIV-1 integrase program
Industry and Economic Factors Affecting Performance	 The expected continuation of losses until a revenue transaction is secured Plans to negotiate future licensing agreements Plans to raise additional financing through different venues and mechanisms available to the Company
Changes in Accounting Policies Including Initial Adoption	The adoption of new accounting standards issued by the Accounting Standards Board particularly those related to Financial Instruments.

The basis for the FLS is management's current expectations, estimates, projections and assumptions. By their nature, they are not guarantees of future performance as they involve significant risks and uncertainties.

The main assumptions used by management to develop the forward-looking information include the following:

- An ability to obtain sufficient financing to support working capital requirements and fund further research and development initiatives over the long term
- An ability to further develop the CHEMSAS® technology for internal and collaborative purposes



- A continuation of favourable preclinical test results from the COTI-2 program and an ability to meet the requirements for regulatory approval
- Obtaining patent protection for the Company's compounds and other intellectual property
- An ability to attract and retain skilled and experienced personnel and to maintain relationships with third party clinical research organizations

Management of COTI considers the assumptions on which the FLS are based to be reasonable. However, management cautions the reader that because of the many risk factors as set out in the Company's AIF, including those specifically described below which are of particular importance to the assumptions above, actual results could differ materially from those expressed or implied in the FLS. These assumptions may prove to be wrong, and as such, undue reliance should not be placed on FLS.

The main risk factors that will influence the Company's ability to realize on its FLS include:

- The ability to raise sufficient financing for continuing operations and development
- The ability to establish customer relationships leading to licensing agreements for the Company's compounds
- The ability to generate customer demand for outputs from the CHEMSAS® technology
- Continued favorable preclinical test results
- The ability to meet regulatory requirements to commercialize compounds, in particular COTI-2, the Company's lead oncology compound
- The ability to obtain patent protection for the Company's compounds
- The ability to raise sufficient financing to maintain the Company's workforce

The forward-looking information is provided as of the date of this MD&A and the Company does not undertake any obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking information, whether because of new information, future events, or otherwise, except as required by securities laws.

The Company

COTI is a London, Ontario based company resulting from the amalgamation on October 13, 2006 of Aviator Petroleum Corp. (Aviator), a public company listed on the TSX Venture Exchange (TSXV), and Critical Outcome Technologies Inc., a private company under the provisions of the *Business Corporations Act* (Ontario). The amalgamation constituted the qualifying transaction for Aviator pursuant to the policies of the TSXV. The amalgamated company adopted the name Critical Outcome Technologies Inc. and its common shares were listed and posted for trading on the TSXV under the symbol COT on October 30, 2006.

On November 27, 2007, the Company completed an acquisition of all the outstanding common shares in the capital of 3015402 Ontario Inc. (formerly 6441513 Canada Inc.) operating as DDP Therapeutics (DDP), in which the Company had, up to the date of the acquisition, a 10% ownership interest. DDP was formed in early 2005 to develop a library of small cell lung cancer molecules discovered by the Company using its drug discovery technology.



On May 1, 2008, the Company amalgamated with this wholly owned subsidiary under the laws of the Province of Ontario.

Our Business

COTI is a biotechnology company focused on applying its proprietary computer-based technology, CHEMSAS®, to identify, profile, optimize and select potential new drug candidates at the discovery stage of preclinical drug development and thereby reduce the timeline and cost of getting new drug therapies to market.

The Company is developing focused portfolios of novel, proprietary and optimized small molecules as potential drug candidates for specific therapeutic targets in diseases that have high morbidity and mortality rates and currently have either poor or no effective therapies. COTI has concentrated on developing drug candidates for the treatment of various cancers, human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), Alzheimer's disease and multiple sclerosis. Cancer types specifically targeted include small cell lung, adult myelogenous leukemia (AML), ovarian, endometrial, pancreatic, brain, breast and colon.

Although the Company intends to license its targeted molecules following synthesis and completion of confirmatory preclinical tests, the Company may also choose to take particularly promising individual molecules forward through various preclinical tests to Phase 1 clinical trials. In this regard, COTI is currently focused on preparing for an investigational new drug (IND) clinical trial submission based on the positive preclinical test results achieved for COTI-2, its lead cancer molecule, against a number of cancer indications. Current testing initiatives and planning target an IND filing in calendar 2012. At this stage, this compound would be available for licensing or co-development as a Phase 1 ready compound.

The Company also seeks to leverage CHEMSAS® to identify targeted lead candidates of commercial interest to pharmaceutical, biotechnology, research and academic organizations on a collaborative basis. The Company's preferred commercialization strategy for collaborations involves an upfront fee and a shared risk/reward revenue model delivered through a series of milestone payments based on preclinical and clinical test results. This service offering provides prospective customers with an efficient and cost effective approach for generating targeted discovery stage compounds while enhancing value to COTI and its shareholders from the underlying CHEMSAS® technology. This collaboration approach resulted in two engagements with multinational pharmaceutical companies in the past few years, one for a cancer target and the other for an HIV target.

Financial Review of Operations

Revenues

There were no operating revenues in the quarter ended July 31, 2011 (Q1-F'12) or in the quarter ended July 31, 2010 (Q1-F'11). The Company continued to pursue a licensing agreement for its lead preclinical oncology compound, COTI-2, during Q1-F'12 with several interested parties but without reaching mutual agreement on contractual terms.



Investment tax credit (ITC) income of \$29,890 was recognized in the quarter, relating to scientific research and development tax credits earned in the first quarter of 2012 for eligible expenditures. In the first quarter 2011, there was no corresponding ITC income recognized. This difference reflects that the Company did not commence recognizing ITC income in the year earned until Q2-F'11. Prior to this time, recognition occurred when collected but having established a seven-year history of successful filings, collection was deemed reasonably certain on a prospective basis.

The Company earned \$4,503 in interest income on its cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments in Q1-F'12 compared to \$2,693 in Q1-F'11. This increase of \$1,810 primarily reflects the higher average balances held by the Company during Q1-F'12 compared to Q1-F'11 (Q1-F'12 - \$1,734,338; Q1-F'11 - \$1,583,060).

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses increased from \$562,452 in Q1-F'11 to \$649,094 for Q1-F'12, an increase of \$86,642. One major expense item, accounted for the comparable quarterly change as stock-based compensation expense increased \$98,339 to \$41,182 from a net recovery amount of \$(57,157) in Q1-F'11.

This higher stock-based compensation expense resulted primarily from the comparable prior year quarter benefitting from a recovery of \$110,509 in previously recognized stock-based compensation expense. Table 2 provides a breakdown of the components of stock-based compensation expense for Q1-F'12 and Q1-F'11 respectively.

Table 2: Stock-Based Compensation Expense – Comparative Quarters Ended July 31

	Q1-F'12	Q1-F'11	Change
Recognized on new option grants	\$ 12,813 \$	27,654 \$	(14,841)
Recognized on existing options	28,369	13,537	14,832
Re-measurement of consultant options	-	12,161	(12,161)
Reversal of unvested cancelled options	-	(110,509)	110,509
	\$ 41,182 \$	(57,157) \$	98,339

The quarterly R&D expenditures were relatively comparable year over year. Table 3 provides a breakdown of R&D costs by major expense types for the comparable three month fiscal periods ended July 31 respectively.

Table 3: R&D Expenses - Comparative Quarters Ended July 31

	Q1-F'12	Q1-F'11	Change
R&D testing, consulting and materials	\$ 17,033 \$	30,553 \$	(13,520)
Synthesis	103,909	57,880	46,029
	120,942	88,433	32,509
Labour including benefits	78,942	104,053	(25,111)
Other	6,057	3,888	2,169
Total	\$ 205,941 \$	196,374 \$	9,567



For Q1-F'12, R&D testing, consulting and materials decreased \$13,520 due to reductions in the extent of *in vitro* and *in vivo* testing. Consistent with Q1-F'11, the majority of this cost focused on the Company's lead oncology compound, COTI-2, with spending on COTI-2 of \$17,033 or 100.00% in Q1-F'12 and \$29,145 or 95.39% in Q1-F'11.

For Q1-F'12, synthesis costs increased \$46,029 compared to Q1-F'11 with 100% of the costs in both quarters focused on COTI-2. The major testing activities in Q1-F'12 related to determining an optimal oral formulation for COTI-2.

R&D labour costs decreased year over year primarily related to the allocation of a portion of the Chief Scientific Officer's (CSO) salary costs to general and administrative (G&A) salary expense. The allocation was based on time commitments in his various roles as President, Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and CSO following the assumption of the additional role of CEO in July 2010. The Company also recovered \$3,693 in salary costs in Q1-F'12 from government assistance received for its acute myelogenous leukemia (AML) project with the National Research Council of Canada Industrial Research Assistance Program (NRC-IRAP). There were no changes in R&D staff levels during the comparable periods.

Table 4 provides a breakdown of G&A by major expense types for the comparable three month fiscal periods ended July 31 respectively. The increase in G&A of \$107,101 for Q1-F'12 compared to Q1-F'11 related primarily to stock-based compensation of \$98,339 and increased professional fees of \$14,181.

Table 4: G&A – Comparative Quarters Ended July 31

	YTD-F'12	YTD-F'11	Change
Salaries and benefits	\$ 111,754 \$	111,287 \$	467
Amortization	119,274	123,481	(4,207)
Corporate governance	17,085	17,284	(199)
Promotion and travel	9,488	6,023	3,465
Professional fees	86,798	72,617	14,181
Other	29,743	30,016	(273)
	374,143	360,708	13,435
Stock-based compensation	41,182	(57,157)	98,339
Total	\$ 415,325 \$	303,551 \$	111,774

G&A salaries and benefits for Q1-F'11 reflected staff levels that included a full-time CEO until the end of June 2010. Although a decrease in salaries for Q1-F'12 might have been expected without a full-time CEO this did not occur. The expected reduction was offset by salary allocations of \$23,208 in Q1-F'12 noted in R&D labour costs above.

Other professional fees increased in Q1-F'12 by \$14,181 primarily due to consulting contracts related to the implementation of IFRS and the Company's claim for scientific research and experimental development tax credits for testing activities conducted in the Province of Quebec during fiscal 2010.



There were no significant changes in sales and marketing expense (S&M) on a quarterly basis year over year. Table 5 provides a breakdown of S&M by major expense types for the comparable three-month fiscal periods ended July 31 respectively.

Table 5: S&M – Comparative Quarters Ended July 31

	Q1-F'12	Q1-F'11	Change
Salaries and benefits	\$ 44,668 \$	39,816 \$	4,852
Marketing and travel	11,176	19,676	(8,500)
Other	1,874	3,035	(1,161)
Total	\$ 57,718 \$	62,527 \$	(4,809)

Financial Results Summary by Quarter

Table 6 summarizes the financial results of COTI by quarter for the past two fiscal years and the most recent quarter. The current quarter and the four quarters of FYE 2011 are restated in compliance with IFRS. The four quarters presented for FYE 2010 were prepared under the Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles framework required at that time and have not been adjusted to conform to IFRS.

Table 6: Summary of Quarterly Financial Results

FYE 2012		Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4	F	ull Year
	3	31-Jul	31-Oct	31-Jan	30-Apr		
Revenue	\$	-				\$	-
Loss	(642,255)					(642,255)
Loss per common share	\$	(0.01)				\$	(0.01)
FYE 2011		Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4	F	ull Year
	3	31-Jul	31-Oct	31-Jan	30-Apr		
Revenue	\$	-	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$	-
Loss	(558,950)	(334,406)	(634,299)	(473,723)	(2,001,378)
Loss per common share	\$	(0.01)	\$ (0.01)	\$ (0.01)	\$ (0.01)	\$	(0.04)
FYE 2010		Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4	F	ull Year
	3	31-Jul	31-Oct	31-Jan	30-Apr		
Revenue	\$	-	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$	-
Loss	(979,089)	(976,678)	(773,217)	(831,326)	(3,560,310)
Loss per common share	\$	(0.02)	\$ (0.02)	\$ (0.02)	\$ (0.02)	\$	(0.08)

The majority of the variation by quarter across the years, and year over year, is explained by three expense categories as set out in Table 7.



Table 7: Selected Quarterly Expense Categories

FYE 2012	Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4		
	31-Jul	31-Oct	31-Jan	30-Apr	F	ull Year
General and administration	\$ 374,143				\$	374,143
Research and product development	205,941					205,941
Stock-based compensation	41,182					41,182
Total of expense categories	621,266					621,266
Total expense for the quarter	\$ 649,094				\$	649,094
Expense categories as a % of total expense	95.7%	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%	ó	95.7%

FYE 2011	Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4	
	31-Jul	31-Oct	31-Jan	30-Apr	Full Year
General and administration	\$ 360,708	\$ 351,097	\$ 367,233	\$ 307,468	\$ 1,386,506
Research and product development	196,374	137,220	125,255	133,893	592,742
Stock-based compensation	(57,157)	(90,878)	71,069	45,287	(31,679)
Total of expense categories	499,925	397,439	563,557	486,648	1,947,569
Total expense for the quarter	\$ 562,452	\$ 457,910	\$ 635,913	\$ 542,247	\$ 2,198,522
Expense categories as a % of total expense	88.9%	86.8%	88.6%	89.7%	88.6%

The variability in the first quarter trend is largely due to the impact of the recovery of \$110,509 in previously recognized stock-based compensation costs on the cancellation of options upon the resignation of the former CEO in 2010 as noted earlier. The remaining variability by quarter over the years is largely explained by the following: variable spending in third party R&D testing and synthesis; changes in salary and benefits based upon annual increases and head count changes; changes in stock based compensation related to both changes in the assumptions used and the number of stock options granted; and the use of consultants. The balance of the remaining expense categories remained relatively consistent.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

At the end of Q1-F'12, the Company had cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments of \$1,558,197 compared to \$2,094,917 cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments at the end of FYE 2011 reflecting a decrease of \$536,720 as summarized in Table 8.

Table 8: Summary of Changes in Capital Resources (1)

	Q1-F'12	Q1-F'11
Increase (decrease) from:		_
Operating activities	\$ (542,091)	\$ (573,573)
Investing activities excluding changes in short-term investments	(12,455)	(8,232)
(Decrease) in capital resources before issuance of common shares		
and warrants	(554,546)	(581,805)
Proceeds from issuance of common shares and warrants	18,823	35,205
(Decrease) increase in capital resources	(535,723)	(546,600)
Less: unrealized foreign exchange loss on capital resources	(997)	2,493
Capital resources - beginning of period	2,094,917	1,945,376
Capital resources - end of period	\$ 1,558,197	\$ 1,401,269

 $^{^{(1)}}$ Capital resources = cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments



Investing activities in Q1-F'12 related primarily to intangible asset expenditures for computer software and patents. Investment in such items will continue into the future as the Company relies heavily on computing technology to run its CHEMSAS® process, and investing in patents for the molecules identified from the process ensures that the licensing value of this intellectual property is protected.

In Q1-F'12, 116,279 options were exercised for gross proceeds of \$19,186. No warrants were exercised. In FYE 2011, there were no options or warrants exercised.

The Company's working capital at Q1-F'12 was \$1,478,210 compared to \$1,953,489 at FYE 2011. Current assets continue to remain highly liquid as there are no restrictions on the use of these assets and cash equivalents are invested in instruments with maturities of three months or less. Short-term investments are held in a flexible guaranteed investment certificate, which became cashable without penalty after June 30, 2011. Current assets decreased to \$1,775,004 at Q1-F'12 from \$2,297,132 at FYE 2011 for a decrease of \$522,128, primarily due to the decrease in cash and cash equivalents. Current liabilities decreased \$46,849 to \$296,794 at Q1-F'12 from \$343,643 at FYE 2011 because of reduced trade payables related to professional fees, director fees and salary accruals.

The Company's exposure to fluctuations in the recoverability of its financial assets is limited as cash not required for current purposes is held in interest bearing cash accounts. Miscellaneous receivables are of high credit quality. The short periods to maturity of these instruments and their capacity for prompt liquidation result in future settlement amounts, which are consistent with carrying values. Given the nature of the Company's financial liabilities, there is also limited risk that future settlement amounts will differ from carrying values. The Company does not have any derivative financial instruments, nor does it engage in hedging transactions, as risk exposure is limited.

The Company's long-term contractual obligations are summarized in Table 9.

Table 9: Contractual Obligations

Obligation		Total		2012		2013
Premises rent ⁽¹⁾	\$	9.345	\$	9,345	Ś	<u> </u>
Research and development contracts	•	30,870	•	30,870	•	-
Consulting services		9,300		9,300		_
Total contractual obligations	\$	49,515	\$	49,515	\$	-

⁽¹⁾ The premises lease agreement expired on May 31, 2009 and has been extended on a month-to-month basis with a 90-day notice period.

Amended Warrants

Subsequent to the July 31, 2011, quarter end, the Company recognized that 1,575,500 warrants issued pursuant to a private placement of 3,151,101 shares approved in May 2010 were due to expire on October 27, 2011 and November 27, 2011 unexercised. The exercise price of the warrants was \$0.55 and the Company's shares were trading in a range well below this price. The Company noted that maintaining these warrants as a source of financing was a cheaper alternative than seeking a further raise for such funds given that the initial costs of putting the



warrants in place had already occurred with the private placement in May 2010. Accordingly, the Company sought to amend the warrants and received this consent from the TSXV on September 30, 2011. The amendments were as follows:

- a) the exercise price was reduced to \$0.37 per share for all warrants except 129,020 warrants held by insiders (Insider Warrants) of the Company, which are not eligible for price amendment. The exercise price of these Insider Warrants remains at \$0.55; and,
- b) the expiry date was extended to January 31, 2013 (the "New Expiry Date"), provided that the New Expiry Date of the warrants will be reduced to a period of 14 days if, for any ten consecutive trading days during the unexpired term of the warrant (the "Premium Trading Days"), the closing price of the common shares on the TSX equals or exceeds \$0.55. The reduced exercise period of 14 days will begin seven calendar days after the tenth Premium Trading Day.

All other provisions of the warrants remain unchanged.

The compensation warrants, with an exercise price of \$0.40 and expiring on October 27, 2011 and November 27, 2011, were not amended, as they were not eligible for amendment under the rules of the TSXV.

Future Plans Impact

The Company has formulated goals for fiscal 2012 and subsequent years to advance the testing for COTI-2 in enhancing its attractiveness to potential licensees and to move the AML project and other projects forward as resources permit. The Company has discretion in many of its budgeted activities and plans to manage these activities in a manner to sustain operations until the necessary financing is available to meet its goals for COTI-2. The Company expects to continue its efforts in raising financing over the next year to accomplish its goals.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

The Company has not historically utilized, nor is it currently utilizing any off-balance sheet instruments.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

During Q1-F'12, the Company recorded a foreign exchange gain of \$2,336 compared to a gain of \$809 in Q1-F'11. The loss recorded in Q1-F'12 reflects \$997 in unrealized losses resulting from holding foreign currency balances at the quarter end, compared to \$2493 in unrealized gains at Q1-F'11. The foreign currency exposure in Q1-F'12 was immaterial and unchanged from FYE 2011.



Related Party Transactions

There were no related party transactions of a material nature during Q1-F'12 except that:

Effective June 1, 2011, the Company entered into an executive management consulting services agreement with one of its directors (Consultant). The agreement has a six-month term with two, three-month renewal periods that automatically renew unless either party gives 30 days notice of intent not to renew. The Company shall pay a contract termination fee of \$9,300 if the first renewal term is unexercised. The Consultant is paid a daily rate for invoiced time as services are provided. During the quarter, the Company paid or accrued \$36,637.

Under the agreement, the Consultant also received 200,000 stock options on June 21, 2011 with 50,000 options vesting on each of the following dates: September 1 and December 1, 2011, and March 1 and June 1, 2012. The options have a five- year life and an exercise price of \$0.35. The Consultant is also entitled to certain cash bonuses based upon his material contribution to the Company successfully achieving any or all of a license agreement, a collaboration agreement or a financing.

Subsequent to the quarter end, a number of material events occurred affecting related parties as summarized below.

Grant of Stock Options

Consistent with the Company's practice of conserving cash, the Company granted 756,098 stock options with an exercise price of \$0.30 to the members of the Board of Directors as a retainer for their services in the next year on September 27, 2011. The options have a five-year maturity from the date of grant, with 189,025 options vesting on each of December 28, 2011 and March 28, 2012 and 189,024 vesting on each of June 28 and September 28, 2012.

The Company also granted 71,449 stock options with an exercise price of \$0.25 to its nine employees as part of their compensation package on October 18, 2011. The options have a five-year maturity from the date of grant and vested immediately.

Warrant Amendment

As noted under Liquidity, the Company received consent from the TSXV for the amendment of warrants expiring on October 27, 2011 and November 27, 2011. Insiders of the Company consisting of directors and officers held 286,570 warrants representing 18.2% of the outstanding expiring warrants. Under the rules of the TSXV, insiders were limited to amendment of pricing for a maximum of 10% of the outstanding warrants. Accordingly, 157,550 warrants were eligible for amendment to the new price of \$0.37 with the balance of 129,019 warrants remaining at the pre-amendment exercise price of \$0.55.

Contingent Transaction

Upon the purchase of DDP Therapeutics in November 2007, the Company became contingently liable for the issuance of 1,431,441 common shares as part of the purchase consideration should



certain development milestones be subsequently achieved by any molecule from the small cell lung cancer (SCLC) library acquired under the purchase. One-half of this contingent share consideration is payable upon the first occasion any molecule achieves one of the following milestones:

- a) when the Company is given notification of acceptance of an investigational new drug filing (IND) and an IND acceptance number is received; or,
- b) when either the United States (US) or the European patent authorities issue the Company a final patent.

The second half of this contingent share consideration is payable upon any molecule achieving both milestones.

If by November 27, 2015, the eighth anniversary date of the transaction, these milestones are not achieved and the contingent consideration is not paid, and if the Company has not abandoned its efforts to develop and commercialize the molecules by this anniversary date, the Company is required to:

- a) issue the contingent consideration of 1,431,441 common shares at fair value, or
- b) pay cash consideration equal to the amount by which the fair value of the molecules purchased in the transaction exceed the amount invested in the molecules by the Company. If the fair value of the molecules purchased in the transaction is less than the amount invested in the molecules by the Company, no consideration is payable.

The Company's lead oncology compound COTI-2 is a molecule from the SCLC library acquired under the purchase. On October 11, 2011, the Company received a patent from the United States Patent and Trademark Office (USPTO) for its US patent filing related to COTI-2. Upon receipt of the patent, the Company issued 715,720 common shares to the former shareholders of DDP (which includes the Company's current Chairman and the current President and CEO) representing one-half of the contingent consideration for meeting the milestone requiring the issuance of a final patent in either the United States or Europe.

The Company has determined that the achievement of the second milestone for COTI-2 does not meet IFRS guidance providing that where the event is "more likely than not" to occur such event should be recognized. Major factors considered in the likelihood determination included: the significant uncertainty inherent in the remaining testing for COTI-2 prior to filing an IND application; the cost, time and expertise required in the IND application and approval process itself; and the Company's current financial capacity to develop COTI-2 successfully through to achieving this milestone. The inability to meet the more likely than not criteria would apply to any of the other molecules based upon the significant cost and timeline in advancing them through both milestones.

The recognition of the contingent consideration in the Interim Statements of Financial Position will be based on the fair values of the common shares issuable at the reporting date when the



more likely than not criteria is met and remeasured at succeeding reporting dates until the date the consideration is paid.

Outstanding Share Information

Outstanding share information as at the close of business October 21, 2011 is set out in Table 10

Table 10: Outstanding Share Information

	Outstanding	Expiry Date
Common shares		
Authorized - unlimited		
Issued	63,203,214	
Fully diluted ⁽¹⁾	82,713,792	
Weighted average outstanding (2)	62,806,076	
Common share warrants		
\$0.40 compensation warrants	105,607	Oct 27/11
\$0.40 compensation warrants	643	Nov 27/11
\$0.30 compensation warrants	385,500	Sep 24/12
\$0.30 compensation warrants	82,000	Oct 6/12
\$0.30 compensation warrants	40,000	Oct 20/12
\$0.55 warrants	1,519,070	Oct 27/11
\$0.55 warrants	56,430	Nov 27/11
\$0.30 warrants	8,152,500	Sep 24/12
\$0.30 warrants	2,187,500	Oct 6/12
\$0.30 warrants	2,160,000	Oct 20/12
	14,689,250	
Common share stock options		
\$0.01 - \$0.50	2,905,144	Sep 9/14 - Oct 17/16
\$0.51 - \$1.00	1,566,184	Jan 11/12 - Mar 14/15
\$1.01 - \$1.50	250,000	Mar 25/12 - Jul 15/13
\$1.51 - \$2.00	100,000	Oct 8/12
	4,821,328	

 $^{^{(1)}}$ Assumes conversion of all outstanding common share stock options and warrants.

Financial and Operational Progress & Outlook

Financial Outlook to FYE 2012

The Company continues to meet with prospective partners and anticipates that it will be in a good position to negotiate a licensing deal for COTI-2 in calendar 2012. As announced on April 12, 2011 the Company has responded to scientific and business feedback from prospective licensing partners by initiating a series of three experiments to address risk reduction points

⁽²⁾ Weighted average shares outstanding calculated from May 1, 2011 to October 21, 2011.



common to these prospects. These experiments will strengthen the scientific data package of COTI-2 making it more valuable to a potential partner through the reduction in the risk profile of the compound. Information from these scientific experiments will be shared with prospective licensees as it becomes available and all experiments are targeted for completion by the end of the Company's fiscal year. The Company is focused on getting COTI-2 to a licensing agreement not only for the monetary benefit to its shareholders but the opportunity COTI-2 presents for further development in the clinic and ultimately for oncology patients.

R&D expenditures were budgeted with contract research organizations in the most cost effective manner considering the opportunity for refundable ITCs in identifying least cost, best value suppliers, and this is anticipated to continue as planned.

The Company is looking to complement the development of COTI-2 and its ultimate licensing by advancing other drug discovery projects along parallel tracks. It is management's intent to move development forward carefully within the context of its ability to finance such development as it has done in past years.

The AML project, which was developed modestly in FYE 2011, is progressing through synthesis, with *in vitro* testing planned for later in FYE 2012. Budgeted spending on the project is expected to be partially offset through the recovery of approximately \$100,000 from an NRC-IRAP funding commitment available for FYE 2012. To the end of Q1-F'12, the Company had recovered \$9,103, which recovery will increase substantially in the second quarter, as synthesis did not commence until the end of Q1-F'12.

Expenditures on G&A and S&M activities for FYE 2012 are expected to remain consistent with those budgeted for the year with first quarter results being lower than budget by \$11,052.

Expenditures on intangible assets and capital assets are trending to budget and are anticipated to remain consistent with the budget amount of approximately \$150,000, consistent with the prior year. This spending is primarily on the Company's patent portfolio.

Product Development Progress – Q1-F'12 and Future Outlook

The Company continued to make progress in developing its drug candidate pipeline during Q1-F'12 with primary focus on COTI-2, the Company's lead oncology compound, the AML project and to a lesser extent the HIV project. Because of limited financial resources, the Company has a number of drug compounds and programs whose further development remains on hold. The Company is exploring a variety of ways to realize value on these compounds or further their development through co-development projects.

COTI-2

During the quarter, the Company continued development of COTI-2 by carrying out additional experiments and laboratory work in preparation for an IND clinical trial submission including the following:



- On May 18, 2011, the Company announced the initiation of a project to develop an optimal oral formulation of COTI-2. The development of an oral formulation for use in humans will maximize the amount of an orally administered dose that is absorbed into the body.
- On June 26, 2011, the Company announced preliminary results from the pharmacodynamic animal experiments (PD) announced in Q4-F'11 demonstrating significant single agent efficacy in an animal model of human ovarian cancer using a cancer cell line (OVCAR-3) that specifically over expresses AKT. This experiment was designed to confirm that AKT/AKT2 is a target for COTI-2 in the intact organism with a human tumor that produces increased amounts of AKT. The initial results provided strong supportive evidence for the continued development of COTI-2 as a first line, single agent therapy for the treatment of ovarian cancers that over express AKT.

Subsequent to the quarter end the Company announced a number of important results as follows:

- On August 16, 2011, the Company followed up its June 26 announcement on PD testing
 with results demonstrating clear evidence of COTI-2's ability to significantly inhibit the
 growth of cancer cells that over express Akt/Akt2 confirming it as a promising targeted
 therapy candidate. A clear relationship was established between the dose of COTI-2 and
 reduced levels of Akt/Akt2 protein, activated Akt/Akt2 in tumour tissues and observed
 tumour growth inhibition.
- On October 13, 2011, the Company announced the receipt of a composition of matter patent for COTI-2 from the US Patent and Trademark Office. This patent strengthens the commercial value of COTI-2 and provides patent protection until 2030.
- On October 20, 2011, the Company announced the final PD and pharmacokinetics test results that demonstrate COTI-2 is an orally effective and selective allosteric modulator/inhibitor of AKT/AKT2 with low toxicity. Moreover, COTI-2 demonstrates a good pharmacokinetic profile, indicating that a once-daily oral administration of COTI-2 may be optimal; an ideal attribute for a chronic cancer therapy.

This new data in addition to previously generated results has COTI-2 well positioned for further development, including a phase 1 clinical trial.

Acute Myelogenous Leukemia (AML)

Key highlights for the AML project during the quarter included:

- The completion of CHEMSAS® optimization of a library of structures covered under the Company's patents, development of routes to synthesis and tendering for synthesis.
- On July 26, 2011, the Company announced that a patent for its protein tyrosine kinase inhibitors supporting the Company's AML program was granted by the Canadian Patent



Office on June 14, 2011. This further strengthens the Company's patent portfolio for AML as US and European patents for these compounds were previously granted.

 On July 28, 2011, the Company announced that it had initiated synthesis on the AML compounds to identify the optimal compound to take forward in development after the initial *in vitro* and *in vivo* testing.

<u>Collaborations and Co-Development Projects</u>

HIV-1 Integrase Co-development

On May 5, 2011, the Company announced that it was seeking a new pharmaceutical partner to continue the development of its novel scaffolds for inhibiting HIV-1 integrase as part of a program with the potential to lead to a new drug therapy to help fight HIV. The agreement with its former partner concluded in early May as the partner advised they were suspending all new HIV-related work that was not already in an advanced stage in the clinic. A number of interested parties have been identified and possible co-development discussions are ongoing.

As announced in Q4-F'11, the Company made a submission to a new initiative of the NRC-IRAP called the Canadian HIV Technology Development Program, as part of a wider Canadian HIV Vaccine Initiative under collaboration between the Government of Canada and the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation. The funding grants remain on hold and whether project approval and funding will be obtained is unknown.

Industry and Economic Factors Affecting Performance

The biotechnology industry is regarded as high risk given the uncertain nature of developing drug candidates and limited access to capital. On the other hand, success in this industry can be highly rewarding. COTI operates in the discovery and preclinical stage of the drug development cycle. The realization of COTI's long-term potential is dependent upon the successful development and commercialization of molecules discovered using the Company's drug discovery technology either for its own account or in collaboration agreements for others, and in utilizing the technology to provide profiling and screening services on a fee for service basis. The major industry and economic risk factors affecting realization of this potential in Q1-F'12 remain substantially unchanged from the analysis discussed at length in the Company's AIF and the risks discussed in the FYE 2011 MD&A.

The three risk categories having the greatest affect on the Company during the quarter were:

- the lack of product revenues;
- 2. securing adequate licensing agreements; and
- 3. access to capital.

Lack of Product Revenues

COTI has not recorded any revenues from the sale or license of any drug compounds or compound libraries during its first five years as a public company consistent with the most



recent quarter, Q1-F'12. COTI has an accumulated deficit since its inception through to July 31, 2011 of \$14,365,704. This deficit is expected to increase in the near term as COTI continues its product development efforts, develops relationships with prospective customers, and strives to obtain licensing and collaboration agreements. Operating losses are expected to be incurred until upfront licensing, milestone and royalty payments are sufficient to generate revenues to fund its continuing operations. COTI is unable to predict with any certainty when it will become profitable, or the extent of any future losses or profits.

Securing Adequate Licensing Agreements

The Company's ability to commercialize its products successfully will depend first, on meeting the scientific due diligence requirements of prospective customers and second, on its ability to negotiate satisfactory licensing terms with pharmaceutical and biotechnology organizations for preclinical compounds. While continued positive test results during this fiscal year generate positive feedback from potential licensees, efforts have not translated into a contractual agreement. Licensing discussions during Q1-F'12 continued to find an increasing interest for earlier stage deals, as the focus on late stage compounds during the past three years has diminished the availability of good compounds in the mid to late stages of clinical development held by companies looking to license. This is reflected in an increasing number of early stage deals in many therapeutic areas during calendar 2011. Industry reporting continues to highlight the productivity challenges of pharmaceutical industry R&D spending in generating new compounds (see US Food and Drug Administration Center for Drug Evaluation – FDA Approvals Since 1996) but there is no certainty that licensing deals can be successfully negotiated for COTI's preclinical compounds.

Access to Capital

The Company is seeking additional funds to continue to develop its R&D programs and to move its compounds more rapidly through development in calendar 2012. The Company intends to raise these funds through public or private equity offerings and collaborations with other pharmaceutical and biotechnology organizations or from other sources. If adequate funding is not available, COTI may be required to delay, reduce, or eliminate one or more of its R&D programs or obtain funds through corporate partners or others who may require it to relinquish significant rights to its product candidates or obtain funds on less favourable terms than COTI would otherwise accept. COTI's success in obtaining future capital requirements will depend on many factors, such as establishing and maintaining investment industry relationships, collaborative partnering relationships and the general economic conditions and access to capital in the equity markets for biotechnology companies.

As previously advised, COTI is a Tier 2 issuer on the TSXV and accordingly is not required to file an AIF, however, the Company voluntarily filed an AIF on July 13, 2011 to strengthen its ability to raise public financing. This filing enables the Company to proceed with a short form prospectus offering at a later date should the Company determine this to be an appropriate course of action at that time.

Despite the Company's financing efforts, there can be no assurance additional funding will be available on terms acceptable to COTI.



Changes in Accounting Policies including Initial Adoption

Certain pronouncements were issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB") or International Financial Reporting Interpretation Committee that are mandatory for annual periods beginning after January 1, 2011 or later periods. Many of these updates are not applicable or are inconsequential to the Company and have been excluded from the discussion below. The remaining pronouncements are being assessed to determine their impact on the Company's results and financial position as follows:

(a) IFRS 7 Financial Instruments – Disclosures – Enhanced Derecognition Disclosure Requirements:

This amendment requires additional disclosure about financial assets that have been transferred but not derecognized to enable the user of the Company's financial statements to understand the relationship with those assets that have not been derecognized and their associated liabilities. In addition, the amendment requires disclosures about continuing involvement in derecognized assets to enable the user to evaluate the nature of, and risks associated with, the Company's continuing involvement in those derecognized assets. The amendment becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2011. The amendment affects disclosure only and has no impact on the Company's financial position or performance.

(b) IFRS 9 Financial Instruments – Classification and Measurement:

IFRS 9 reflects the first phase of the IASBs work on the replacement of International Accounting Standard 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, and deals with the classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities. This standard establishes two primary measurement categories for financial assets, amortized cost and fair value, and eliminates the existing categories of held to maturity, available for sale, and loans and receivables. The new classification will depend on the entity's business model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. The Company does not expect IFRS 9 to have a material impact on its financial statements.

(c) IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement:

In May 2011, the IASB published IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement, which is effective prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. The disclosure requirements of IFRS 13 need not be applied in comparative information for periods before initial application. IFRS 13 replaces the fair value measurement guidance contained in individual IFRSs with a single source of fair value measurement guidance. It defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, i.e. an exit price. The standard also establishes a framework for measuring fair value and sets out disclosure requirements for fair value measurements to provide information that enables financial statement users to assess the methods and inputs used to develop fair value measurements and, for recurring fair value measurements that use significant unobservable inputs (Level 3), the effect of the measurements on profit or loss or other comprehensive income. IFRS 13 explains 'how' to



measure fair value when it is required or permitted by other IFRS. IFRS 13 does not introduce new requirements to measure assets or liabilities at fair value, nor does it eliminate the practical exceptions to fair value measurements that currently exist in certain standards. The Company intends to adopt IFRS 13 prospectively in its financial statements for the annual period beginning on May 1, 2013. The Company does not expect IFRS 13 to have a material impact on its financial statements.

(d) Business combinations, consolidated financial statements and non-controlling interests:

In December 2008, the Accounting Standards Board (AcSB) issued Section 1582, "Business Combinations" that replaced Section 1581, "Business Combinations". The AcSB also issued Section 1601, "Consolidated Financial Statements" that replaced Section 1600, "Consolidated Financial Statements", and the AcSB amended Section 1602, "Non-controlling interests". These Sections became effective for the Company with interim and annual financial statement reporting beginning on January 1, 2011. The standards are to be applied prospectively to future business combinations; however, entities transitioning to IFRS may choose to adopt these Sections early to minimize the effect of transitional differences with IFRS. If an entity chooses to adopt Section 1582 before the required transition date, Sections 1601 and 1602 must be applied at the same time. These standards are expected to have no effect on the Company before transition to IFRS as no future business combinations are being considered at present.